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Before: GinsBurG, Chief Judge, and RoGers and
TATEL, Circuit Judges.

Opinion for the Court filed by Chief Judge GINSBURG.

GINSBURG, Chief Judge: This goped comes to usin the
wake of Verizon Communicationsinc. v. CurtisV. Trinko, LLP,
540 U.S. 398 (2004), in which the Supreme Court held that a
complant dleging an incumbert local exchange carrier (ILEC)
refused to share dements of its network with a competitor, as
required by the Tdecommunications Act of 1996, 110 Stat. 56,
codified at 47 U.S.C. 8 151 et seq., did not state a dam for
monopolization or attempted monopolization under § 2 of the
Sherman Act, 15 U.SC. § 2. In the present case, Covad
Communications Company sued Bdl Atlantic Corporation, aso
an ILEC, amilaly dleging Bdl Atlantic had violated § 2 of the
Sherman Act by virtue of having breached various duties
imposed upon it by the 1996 Act and by engaging in other
anticompetitive conduct.

The didtrict court, prior to the Supreme Court’s decision
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in Trinko, granted Bel Atlantic's motion to dismiss Covad's
complant for falure to state a clam upon which reief can be
granted. Covad Communications Co. v. Bdl Atlantic Corp., 201
F. Supp. 2d 123, 127 (D.D.C. 2002). Covad appedls, arguing:
(1) the dlegations in its complaint relative to the 1996 Act are
maeridly diffeeent from the dlegations hdd deficent in
Trinko; and (2) at leest some of its alegations are of conduct
independently proscribed by the Sherman Act.”

We conclude tha most of the dlegations in Covad's
complaint do not state an antitrust daim; they describe at most
a violaion of the 1996 Act. Of the three dlegations unrelated
to duties imposed upon Bdl Atlantic by the 1996 Act — the fdse
pre-announcement campaign, the refusa to ded, and the
basdless and bad fath patent suit — only the dleged refusal to
dedl states an antitrust claim and therefore should not have been
dismissed.

I. Background

Covad provides a Digitd Subscriber Line (DSL) service
over local teephone lines, which not only gives its customers
high-speed Internet access but also permits Covad to offer voice
and data service, in competition with Bdl Atlartic, which
provides locd exchange and tdecommunications services,
induding DSL. Covad contends that Bell Atlantic used its
monopoly power to undermine competition in various markets

The district court declined to exercise supplemental
jurisdiction over the three state common law claims and the claim that,
in addition to violating the Sherman Act, Bdl Atlantic violated the
District of Columbia Antitrust Act. 201 F. Supp. 2d at 135. Covad
does not challenge that ruling on appeal.
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for tdecommunications services. In April 1999 Covad sued Bell
Atlantic and twelve subsdiaries assarting, in its second amended
complaint, seven causes of action, induding the four Sherman
Act dams that are the subject of this apped. The thrugt of the
four antitrust clams — monopolization, attempted
monopolization, denid of essentid fadilities and refusd to dedl,
and monopoly leveraging — is that Bell Atlantic violated the
Sherman Act by exercigng its monopoly power in violation of
its obligations under the 1996 Act.

Severa dlegations dearly concern Bdl Atlantic's falure
to make vaious of its fadlities and eements of its network
avalable to Covad, as required by the 1996 Act. See 47 U.S.C.
§ 251(c) (requiring ILECs to share unbundled network dements
with competitors). See generally Trinko, 540 U.S. at 402-05
(discussing duties imposed upon ILECs by 1996 Act); Covad
Communications, 201 F. Supp. 2d at 127 (same). Specificdly,
Covad dleges Bdl Atlantic faled to provide it with adequate
co-located space and facilities, did not make its loca loops — the
wires between Bdl Atlantic's centrd offices and its customers
premises — suffidently available to Covad, did not maintain
adeguate operations support systems (OSS) for Covad' suse; and
denied Covad access to the “transport facilities’ it needed to
connect its centrd office equipment with other points in its
network.

Covad dso adleges Bdl Atlantic engaged in
anticompetitive conduct arguably untethered to the 1996 Act.
Spedificaly, the complant dates Bell Atlantic pursued an
unlavful “price squeeze’; created the false impresson Bell
Atlantic’'s own DSL service was dready available to consumers;
refused to sl its DSL service to would-be customers who had
orders for DSL service pending with Covad; and brought a
basdess and bad faith patent suit againgt Covad.
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Bdl Atlantic moved to dismiss Covad's complaint on the
ground it did not state a claim upon which relief can be granted.
The didrict court granted that motion, explaining that “virtualy
dl dlegaions of exdusonary conduct, with the exception of the
retdiatory patent lav suit, relate to Bdl Atlantic's failure to
comply with the myriad duties contained in ... the 1996 Act,”
201 F. Supp. 2d at 129, and more important, “fal squarely
outsde the parameters of antitrust law,” id. a 130. Thus, the
digrict court hdd the alegations concerning Bel Atlantic's
falure to share its fadlities and certain network dements with
Covad did not state a dam under the so-caled “essentia
fadlities’ doctrine — which the Supreme Court in Trinko later
described as having been “crafted by some lower courts”
applying the Sherman Act, 540 U.S. a 410 — and held the
dlegations concerning the basdess and bad faith patent suit
were inadequate because Covad “faled to dlege [it] had any
‘anticompetitive effect.”” Id. at 135 (citing United States v.
Microsoft Corp., 253 F.3d 34, 58-59 (D.C. Cir. 2001)).

II. Andlysis

We review de novo the didrict court’s dismissa of a
complant for falure to state a clam upon which relief can be
granted. See Caribbean Broad. Sys. Ltd. v. Cable & Wireless
PLC, 148 F.3d 1080, 1085 (D.C. Cir. 1998). Confronted with a
motion to dismiss, “a plantiff is not required to plead facts
auffident to prove its dlegaions’; rather, the complaint need
only contain “a short and plain satement of the dam showing
that the pleader is entitled to rdief.” Fep. R. Civ. P. 8(a). The
court must accept dl facts and reasonable inferences as true and
may dismiss the complaint only if it “it appears beyond doubt
that the plantiff can prove no set of facts in support of his clam
which would entitle him to relief.” Caribbean Broad. Sys., 148
F.3d at 1086. Why? Because the “the issue presented by a



7

motion to digmiss is not whether a plantiff will ultimady
preval but whether the damant is entitled to offer evidence to
support theclams” 1d.

In this case, therefore, the issue on apped is broadly
whether Covad's complaint dleges Bell Atlantic engaged in any
“anticompetitive conduct” in violation of 8 2 of the Sherman
Act. See Trinko, 540 U.S. a 407 (“possession of monopoly
power will not be found unlawful unless it is accompanied by an
eement of anticompetitive conduct”). Covad argues thet dl the
cdams in its complant should be reingated because its
dlegations of anticompetitive conduct, taken together, dwarf the
sngle alegation at issue in Trinko and that, in any event, at least
some of its dlegeations, viewed individudly, do state a dam
upon which rdief can be granted under the Sherman Act. Bel
Atlantic contends the digrict court properly dismissed the
complaint in its entirety because each dlegedly anticompetitive
act either pertains only to a duty imposed by the 1996 Act or
otherwise fails to state a claim under the Sherman Act.

In determining whether Covad has stated a vdid dam,
our darting point is the teaching of the Supreme Court in Trinko
about the relationship between the 1996 Act and established
antitrugt principles. In holding a complaint dleging breach of an
ILEC's duty under the 1996 Act to share its network with
competitors did not state a claim under 8§ 2 of the Sherman Act,
the Court explained that, “just as the 1996 Act preserves claims
that stidfy exiging antitrust standards, it does not create new
dams that go beyond exiding antitrust standards.” 1d. at 407.
Having determined that a violation of the 1996 Act is not itsalf
actionable under the Sherman Act, the Court went on to
determine “whether the activity of which [the plaintiff]
complains violatg[d] pre-existing antitrust standards.” Id. We
address the same question but only after first disposing of
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Covad s preiminary arguments for distinguishing Trinko.
A. Has Covad Didtinguished Trinko?

At the outset Covad contends its complaint is materialy
different from the complaint in Trinko, and should be reinstated
in its entirety, because the complaint in Trinko stated only “the
narrowest of clams” wheress its complant dleged the
defendant ILEC: (1) engaged in “avast array of anticompetitive
conduct”; and (2) sought to “export” its monopoly power to a
downstream market. Covad aso maintains (3) the digtrict court
erroneousy held the 1996 Act implicitly granted antitrust
immunity for a carier regulated by the 1996 Act — an
interpretation specificaly rgected by the Supreme Court in
Trinko, 540 U.S. at 406.

Covad's firg didtinction is legdly irrdevant. A violation
of 8 2 of the Sherman Act “requires, in addition to the
possession of monopoly power in the rdevant market, the
willful acquisition or maintenance of that power as distinguished
from growth or development as a consequence of a superior
product, business acumen, or historic accident.” Id. a 407.
Accordingly, a “would-be monopolist ... comes within the
condemnation of the Sherman Act [only] when it engages in
‘anticompetitive conduct.”” Caribbean Broad. Sys., 148 F.3d at
1087; see Trinko, 540 U.S. a 407. Therefore, as Bell Atlantic
argues, whether a particular dlegation states a clam under the
Sherman Act depends entirdly upon the competitive significance
of the conduct dleged, and not at dl upon the number or detall
of the dlegations recited in the complaint.

Covad's second distinction of Trinko, that Bdl Atlantic
attempted to leverage monopoly power from one market into
another, is equaly unavaling. As Bdl Atlantic is quick to point
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out, the Court in Trinko rgected a smilar argument, see 540
U.S. a 415 n4 (holding theory of second-market “leveraging
presupposes anticompetitive conduct, which in this case could
only be the refusal-to-deal dam we have rejected”). If Covad
does not dlege any anticompetitive conduct in Bel Atlantic's
“acquidtion or maintenance’ of monopoly power, then it is of
no moment whether Bell Atlantic alegedly exercised monopoly
power in two markets rather than in one.

Covad's find point, namdy, that the district court
eroneoudy granted Bdl Atlantic implied antitrus immunity
insofar as it is regulated by the 1996 Act, Smply misstates the
holding of the district court. Although that court “[could] not
hdp but note’ in a dictcum the “fundamenta incompatibility”
between the remedia scheme of the 1996 Act and the remedies
avalable under the Sherman Act — as would the Supreme Court
in Trinko, see 540 U.S. at 406 (“1996 Act is a good candidate
for implication of artitrus immunity, to avoid the red
possihility of judgments conflicting with the agency’s regulatory
scheme’) — that was not in the district court’s view “dispositive’
of Covad's antitrust daims. 201 F. Supp. 2d at 133. Indeed, as
Bdl Atlantic notes, the district court did not need to consider
whether the 1996 Act granted Bell Atlantic, as an ILEC, implicit
antitrus  immunity because it had dready hdd Covad’'s
dlegations that Bdl Atlatic had violated the 1996 Act did not
giveriseto an antitrust dlam. Seeid. at 130-33.

Because Covad fals ether to didinguish Trinko or to
show the didrict court's andyss is incongstent with that
decison, we review Covad's complaint in light of the Supreme
Court’s holding that the 1996 Act did not ater preexising
antitrust standards. 540 U.S. at 406-07. That Bl Atlantic's
aleged conduct may violate the 1996 Act does not, of course,
mean that same conduct cannot violate the Sherman Act. The
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guestion to which we now turn, therefore, is whether any of the
conduct dleged in Covad's complant, regardiess whether it
violated the 1996 Act, violated § 2 of the Sherman Act.

B. Has Covad Stated a Clam under the Sherman Act?

Covad dleges Bdl Atlatic engaged in five types of
conduct in violation of the Sherman Act. They are that Bl
Atlantic: (1) unlawfully refused to cooperate with Covad (1
91-177, 196-201); (2) engaged in an unlawful price squeeze (11
178-85); (3) fdsdy advertised that its own DSL service was
avaldde a times and in places where Covad's service was
avalable (1Y 186-92); (4) refused to sdl its DSL service, in
places where it was actudly available, to would-be customers
who had orders pending for Covad’s DSL sarvice (11 193-95);
and (5) brought a basdess and bad fath patent st aganst
Covad (11 202-12).

1. Refusal to cooperate

Although the Court in Trinko recognized that “[u]nder
certan circumgtances, a refusal to cooperate with rivas can
conditute anticompetitive conduct,” 540 U.S. a 408, it
concluded that “insuffident assstance in the provison of
sarvice to rivas is not a recognized antitrus dam under [its]
exiding refusal-to-deal precedents,” id. a 410. An antitrust
dam based upon the defendant’s refusal to cooperate with its
competitor can withgdand a motion to dismiss only when it is
dleged ether that the defendant had previoudy “engaged in a
course of deding with its rivas, or [that it] would ever have
done so0 absent statutory compulsion,” id. at 409. Here, Covad
dleges nather that Bell Atlantic had a one time voluntarily
dedt with Covad nor that it would ever have been in Bdl
Atlantic’'s interest to have done so. Therefore, asin Trinko, the
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defendant’ s “reluctance to interconnect ... tells us nothing about
dreams of monopoly.” 1d.

In the light shed by Trinko, we agree with the didrict
court that the following dlegations do not state a clam upon
which relief can be granted under § 2 of the Sherman Act: “The
Battle to Collocate” (1 91-124), in which Covad aleges Bell
Atlatic did not offer it the opportunity to co-locate its
equipment on Bdl Atlantic's premises upon “just, reasonable,
and nondiscriminatory terms’ (as required by § 101 of the 1996
Act, 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(6)); “The Odyssey of Obtaining Loops
and Deding with OSS’ (1 125-174), in which Covad aleges
Bdl Atlantic violated its obligation under the same provison to
share loops and OSS; “The Effort to Obtain Transport” (11 175-
77), which amilaly pertains to Bdl Atlaitic’s duties under the
1996 Act; and “Bdl Atlantic's Sham, ‘Fed Good Negotiation
Strategy” (111 196-201), in which Covad dleges Bdl Atlantic
faled to bargain in good fath over terms of interconnection (as
required by 8 101 of the 1996 Act, 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(1)).

2. Price squeeze

Covad next dleges Bdl Atlatic attempted to
monopolize the market for DSL in violation § 2 of the Sherman
Act by pricing its services asfollows.

Bdl Atlantic ... offered and re-sold its DSL services to
[Internet Service Providers] at a monthly price ... very
close to, and in some cases less than, the monthly cost
Bdl Atlaitic chargefd] Covad and other wholesde
cusomers for unbundled loops. .. [Bel Atlantic]
achieve[d] this discriminatory pricing by dlocaing a
neglighble or zero cost to the loops over which it
provides its DSL services and recovering virtudly all ...
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of the cost of the loops from its locd analog voice
SEViCes.

Covad dams this conduct conditutes a “price squeeze’ tha
violates the Sherman Act, for which propodtion it relies upon
United States v. Aluminum Co. of America, 148 F.2d 416 (2d
Cir. 1945).

Covad's dlegation is in essence that Bel Atlantic
charged Covad a prohibitively high and discriminatory price for
access to its loops. Bell Atlantic’'s duty to make those loops
available at al, however, is purely a creature of the 1996 Act.
See 47 U.S.C. 251(c)(3). The Sherman Act does not impose
such a duty — recdl Trinko, 540 U.S. a 410 (“insufficient
assistance in the provison of service to rivasis not a recognized
antitrust daim”) — at least when there is no dlegation it would
have been profitable for the defendant to have made its fadilities
avalable to a competitor absent statutory compulson. And, as
observed in a leading treatise, “it makes no sense to prohibit a
predatory price squeeze in circumstances where the integrated
monopolist is free to refuse to dea,” 3A AREEDA &
HoVENKAMP, ANTITRUST LAW ] 7673, at 129-30 (2d ed. 2002).
We therefore dfirm the digtrict court’s dismissal of Covad's §
2 claim based upon a price squeeze.

3. Fase pre-announcement campaign

Covad aso mantans its complaint dates an antitrust
dam based upon Bdl Atlantic’s pre-announcement of its DSL
sarvice: “Knowing the limited reach and scope of its planned
sarvice Bdl Atlantic nonetheless advertised its DSL services
aggressvely.” The effect of that advertisng was dlegedly “to
leave the impresson that Bdl Atlantic was ready, willing and
capable of providing DSL services.” In response, Bl Atlantic
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contends, among other things, Covad's complaint does not state
an antitrust clam because it does not alege a plausble harm to
competition. We agree and hence do not reach Bell Atlantic's
other arguments.”

The gig of Covad's dlegation is that Bdl Atlantic
agoressively advertised its DSL service in certain areas when
that service was not yet avalable there. According to the
complaint, that advertisng “could dtifle competition ether by
capturing customers through a bait and switch, or (in any event)
by ddaying customers who otherwise would have gone to
Covad for sarvices Bdl Atlatic was advertisng and by
increesng the costs Covad would have to bear in order to
advertise”

Concerning the “bat and switch,” Covad dleges that
when a would-be customer cdlled Bell Atlantic to order DSL
sarvice a a location where it was not yet available from Béll
Atlantic, the defendant attempted to sdl that customer its
“dower and more expensive ‘ISDN Anywhere service” As for
“ddaying customers who otherwise would have gone to Covad
for services Bdl Atlantic was advertiang,” dthough Covad does
not elaborate, we beieve its point is that some potentia
customers, after atempting to order DSL service from Bdl
Atlantic only to discover it was unavailable, decided to wait for
Bdl Atlantics service to become avalable rather than
immediately patronizing Covad.

None of these dlegaions suggests a plausible harm to

Specifically, we do not address Bell Atlantic's arguments
that the court should presume any harm to competition from false
advertising is de minimis and that a plaintiff must plead actual falsity
in order to state an antitrust claim.
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competition, let aone a case of attempted monopolization. On
the contrary, the practices dleged could only have enhanced
competition by subjecting Covad's DSL sarvice to market
rivdry both from Bell Atlantic’'s present ISDN and from its
future DSL service. That Covad might have lost customers in
this way does not state an antitrust daim, for “[i]t is axiomatic
that the antitrust laws were passed for the protection of
competition, not competitors.” Brooke Group Ltd. v. Brown &
Williamson Tobacco Corp., 509 U.S. 209, 224 (1993).
Smilaly, to the extent Bdl Atlantics advertisng obligated
Covad to increase its own advertigng, competition was only
enhanced. See RoOBERT H. BORK, THE ANTITRUST PARADOX 314
(2d ed. 1993) (“advertiang and promotion [are] essentid to
vigorous market rivary”).

The cases upon which Covad relies do not suggest
otherwise. They each involved either a defendant that was
dleged to have untruthfully but effectively disparaged its
competitor’s product, see, e.g., Nat'l Ass'n of Pharm. Mfrs. v.
Ayerst Lab., 850 F.2d 904, 916-17 (2d Cir. 1988) (generic drug
menufecturer  dleging brand name manufacturer spread
materidly fadse information about safety of its product States
dam under 8§ 2 of Sherman Act where falsehood was “likely to
induce reasonable rdliance” and was “not readily susceptible of
neutrdization or other offset”), or in one instance a monopolist
that by making fase representations had frustrated potential
rivas efforts to develop a competitive product, see Microsoft
Corp., 253 F.3d at 76-77. In no case could the consumer readily
discover the defendant’s fddty. Here, the dleged falsehood
pertans only to whether Bdl Atlantic's DSL service was then
avalable. When a company fasdy dams or implies its own
savice is avalable and the fasty of that clam is necessarily
digpelled whenever a consumer tries to obtain the service, there
can be no plausble harm to competition; upon discovering the
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savice is not avalable, the consumer may choose fredy
whether to purchase the service from another source or to wait
for the offeror to make good on its offer. Although the
consumer will have incurred an unnecessary transaction cost —
which may generate bad will toward the firm by which it was
mided — that is not a harm to the competitive process.

MCI Communications Corp. v. AT& T Co., 462 F. Supp.
1072 (N.D. 1ll. 1978), cited by Covad, is not necessarily to the
contrary. There, AT&T's pre-announcement campaign was
dlegedly “accompanied by extensve publicity to the business
and finandd community” and was intended not only “to
discourage MCI’s potentid customers’ but aso “to deprecate
MCI’s credit in the financid community.” 1d. at 1096-97. In
ths case, Covad does not dlege that Bel Atlantic's
preannouncement was amed at anyone but potentia customers
and, as we have seen, upon inquiring they had to be undeceived.

4. Refusd to dedl

Covad next argues that Bdl Atlantic unlawfully refused

to &l its DSL service to would-be customers who had orders
for DSL service pending with Covad. According to Covad, Bell

* Covad aso relies upon United Sates v. Microsoft Corp.,
159 FR.D. 318 (D.D.C. 1995), for the proposition that a
preannouncement campaign directed at consumers may violate the
Sherman Act. Although the district court, in rejecting a proposed
consent decree did suggest that a preannouncement campaign might
unlawfully “contribute to the acquisition, maintenance, or exercise of
market share,” id. a 336, because the Government had made no
alegation concerning a preannouncement campaign, id. at 335, this
court expressly disapproved the district court’s consideration of that
subject. 56 F.3d 1448, 1459 (1995).
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Atlantic's refusd to dedl was designed “to prevent Covad from
getting to the market ahead of Bdl Atlantic” Bdl Atlantic
counters that Covad failed to plead that this practice resulted in
a short-term economic loss to Bdl Atlantic, as is required. See
AREEDA & HOVENKAMP, ANTITRUST LAW § 773, a 199 (Supp.
2004) (to be unlawful, refusal to deal must be “‘irrationd’ in the
sense that the defendant sacrificed the opportunity to make a
profitable sde only because of the adverse impact the refusd
would have on a rivd”). In any event, Bdl Atlantic assats, it
had a legitimate economic judification for refusng to deal,
namdy, that it was unprofitable to sdl its DSL service to a
consumer who would soon switch his custom to Covad. Neither
of Bdl Atlantic's arguments is persuasive as a judificaion for
dismissng Covad' s complaint.

As to Bel Atlantic’s first point, the defendant is correct
that in order to prevail upon this clam Covad will have to prove
Bdl Atlantic's refusal to deal caused Bdl Atlatic short-term
economic loss. See generally United States v. Colgate & Co.,
250 U.S. 300, 307 (1919) (absent “ purpose to create or mantan
monopaly, [the Sherman Act] does not restrict the long
recognized rignt of trader .. fredy to exercise his own
independent discretion as to parties with whom he will ded”).
But Covad has dleged that Bdl Atlantic's refusal to deal was
“predatory,” which suffices to withsand a motion to dismiss
because, in the vernacular of antitrust law, a “predatory”
practice is one in which a firm sacrifices short-term profits in
order to drive out of the market or otherwise discipline a
competitor. See Brooke Group Ltd., 509 U.S. at 222-23 (clam
of predatory pricing demands proof of below-cost pricing).

Bdl Atlantic's second defense — that its refusa to dedl
was economicdly judified — depends upon a question of fact
and therefore is not cognizable in support of a maotion to dismiss.
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It is, of course, etirdy possble Bdl Atlatic will be able to
prove the cost of connecting a customer to its DSL service is not
recovered in the short-term, thereby showing its refusa to deal
was a reasonable business decision. On the other hand, it is dso
possble Bdl Atlantic's refusd to deal reflected its willingness
to sacrifice immediate profits from the sde of its DSL service in
the hope of driving Covad out of the market and recovering
monopoly profits in the long-run. See Matsushita Elec. Indus.
Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 588-89 (1986)
(because predatory pricing requires practitioner to “forgo profits
that free competition would offer,” it “must have a reasonable
expectation of recovering, in the form of later monopoly profits,
more than the losses suffered”). The district court cannot
choose between these competing explanations without first
resolving questions of fact not before it upon a motion to
dismiss

5. Basdess and bad faith patent suit

Findly, Covad argues its dlegation that Bel Atlantic
brought a spurious patent case againgt it states a claim under 8
2 of the Sherman Act. See generally Bel Atlantic Network
Services, Inc. v. Covad Communications Group, 92 F. Supp. 2d
483 (E.D. Va 2000). Specificaly, Covad contends that Bell
Atlantic’'s quit was basdless, brought in bad fath, and had an
anticompetitive effect. Bel Atlantic counters firdt, as the district
court hed, that Covad faled to alege the suit had an
anticomptitive effect, see Covad Communications, 201 F. Supp.
2d at 135 (quoting Microsoft, 253 F.3d at 58-59), and second,
that the suit was not objectively basdess.

Regarding anticompetitive effect, Bdl Atlatic is
migaken. Covad dleges Bdl Atlantic brought the patent suit in
order “to interfere with competition in the rdevant markets.”
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That is sufficient to alege an anticompetitive effect.

Alternatively, Bell Atlantic urges us to hold, as a matter
of law, that its bringing the patent suit could not have harmed
competition.  In 0 doing, Bdl Atlantic confuses the function of
a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), which tests the
aufficency of the plantiff's dlegations, with a motion for
summary judgment pursuant to Rule 56, which tests the
aufficdency of the non-moving party’s evidence in light of the
legd theory it has advanced. See Swierkiewicz v. Sorema N.A.,
534 U.S. 506, 512 (2002) (“smplified notice pleading standard
[of the Federd Rules of Civil Procedure] rdies on liberal
discovery rules and summary judgment motions to define
disputed facts and issues and to dispose of unmeritorious
cdams’). Bdl Atlantic's protestation notwithstanding, we have
it on good authority that even a angle patent it brought in bad
fath agang a nascent riva might unlawfully harm competition.
See 3A AREeDA & HOVENKAMP, ANTITRUST LAw ] 782k, at 281
(“an unjudtified patent infringement suit ... might be abused by
a monopolist to the detriment of actua or potentid rivals’).
Whether Bdl Atlantic's suit had such an effect is, again, a
question not properly decided upon amotion to dismiss.

Bdl Atlantic next disputes Covad’'s characterization of
the patent suit as basdess. Resolving this matter requires us to
consder the Noerr-Pennington doctrine, under which
petitioning the Government for redress of grievances, whether
by efforts to influence legidative or executive action or by
seeking redress in court, is immune from ligbility under the
antitrust lavs. See E. RR. Presidents Conference v. Noerr
Motor Freight, Inc., 365 U.S. 127, 136 (1961); Cal. Motor
Transp. Co. v. Trucking Unlimited, 404 U.S. 508, 510 (1972)
(Noerr-Pennington doctrine encompasses “the approach of
citizens ... to courts’).
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Noerr-Pennington immunity, however, does not extend
to “sham” litigation. The presumption of antitrust immunity for
litigating is dispeled if the plantiff can show that two
conditions are met:

Fird, the lavauit mugt be objectively baseless in the
sense tha no reasonable litigant could redidicaly
expect success on the merits. ... Only if chadlenged
litigetion is objectively meritless may a court examine
the litigant’s subjective motivation. ... This two-tiered
process requires the plantiff to disprove the chalenged
lawsuit’'s legal viadility before the court will entertain
evidence of the suit's economic vidhility.

Prof'l Real Estate Investors, Inc. v. Columbia Pictures Indus.
508 U.S. 49, 60-61 (1993). Bell Atlantic urges us to decide as
a matter of law that its patent suit against Covad was not
“objectively basdess” Covad interposes no issue of fact and
joins issue on the question of lav. With the opinions of the
patent courts before us, we see no barrier to our determining
now whether Bell Atlantic's suit was a sham and hence without
Noerr-Pennington immunity from antitrust ligbility.

Bdl Atlantic sued Covad for patent infringement. The
digrict court, in a lengthy and detalled opinion, granted
summary judgment in favor of Covad. Bell Atlantic Network
Services, 92 F. Supp. 2d at 499-500. Bell Atlantic appealed, and
the Court of Appeds for the Federa Circuit, in another lengthy
and detailed opinion, see 262 F.3d 1258 (2001), afirmed the
judgment of the didrict court. That Covad ultimately prevailed,
of course, tdls us litle about whether Bell Atlantic’s patent suit
lacked objective merit. See Prof’| Real Estate Investors, 508
U.S. a 60 n.5 (“court mug resst the understandable temptation
to engage in post hoc reasoning by concluding that an ultimately
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unsuccessful action mus have been unreasonable or without
foundation”).

Our review of the patent courts opinions convinces us
that Bdl Atlantic's case agang Covad was not objectively
bascless. Bdl Atlantic advanced reasonable arguments that each
court went to some lengths to regject. Nothing in their opinions
suggests that “no reasonable litigant could [have] redigtically
expect[ed] success on the merits.” 1d. at 60.

Covad dso dleges Bdl Atlantic “sngled Covad out” for
it and “used the patent action as the vehide for serving
discovery requests on Covad” seeking “confidential information
about a competitor.” Those dlegations, however, speak to Bl
Atlantic’s subjective motivation for suing Covad, which may be
evduated “[o]nly if [the] chdlenged litigation is objectively
meritless” 1d. We therefore concdlude that Covad's allegation
that Bdl Atlantic brought a basdess and bad fath patent it
agand it fals to state a dam under 8§ 2 of the Sherman Act.

[11. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment of the didrict
court dismissng Covad's dams of monopolizetion and
attempted monaopolization is reversed with respect to Covad's
dam that Bel Atlantic unlawfully refused to ded with would-
be customers who had orders for DSL service pending with
Covad. The judgment is affirmed in al other respects and this
matter is remanded to the didrict court for further proceedings
consstent herewith.

So ordered.



